NGO Group for the Convention on the Rights of the Child

Database of NGO Reports presented to the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child.

Document Title:

Report by Radda Barnen (Swedish Save the Children) to the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child - Geneva concerning the Second Periodical Report by the Swedish Government

Region:

Europe, Western Europe

Country: Sweden

Issued by: Radda Barnen

Date of publication of NGO Report:

02/98

Date of presentation to presessional working group:

06/98

CRC Session

(at which related national state party report was submitted):

20th Session: Jan 99

Language: English

Document Text

Link to the state party report at UNHCHR In French

Link to documents on official reporting at the Centre for Europe Children

Report by Radda Barnen submitted on 27 February 1998

Text: Simone Ek, Michael Ekstrom, Chritina Heilborn, Eva Larsson-Bellander, Lennart Reinius, Eva Svelding, Sven Winberg together with 19 local Radda Barnen branches in the project "From Flen to the UN..."

Project manager: Simone Ek Editor: Egneta Gunnarsson Layout: Anna Fanqvist Translator:James Hurst

Contents

Introduction and summary

Section I

Part I: Development 1992-1997

Part II: Information concerning the articles of the convention General measures
International development co-operation
General principles
Civil and political rights
Family environment and alternative care
Basic health and welfare
Education, leisure, and cultural activity
Special protective measures To the UN Committee

Section II

"From Flen to the UN..."

Dissemination of the Convention

Non-discrimination (Article 2)

Best interest of the child (Article 3)

Respect for the views of the child (ArtIcle 12)

Basic health and welfare

Education, leisure and cultural activity

Appendix I Presentation of Radda Barnen

Appendix II Working methods for the local reports

Introduction and summary

As a popular movement for the rights of the child, Radda Barnen [Swedish Save the Children] has an obvious task to fight to ensure that the rights of the child are realised, thereby requiring political will on the part of the Swedish Government, Members of the Riksdag [Swedish Parliament] and other decision-makers.(A presentation of Radda Barnen, its history, current programmes and collaborating partners is presented in Appendix I.)

This is Radda Barnen's Report (adopted by the Executive Board of Radda Barnen on 23 January 1998) to the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child - Geneva in response to a review of the Second Periodical Report of the Swedish Government to the UN Committee's 19th UN session in September/October 1998. Radda Barnen is providing this supplementary report on how the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child has been applied in Sweden. Radda Barnen is solely responsible for this report, but also sup-ports the report from the NGO Network for the Convention on the Rights of the Child, which consists of some 60 voluntary organisations. The report has also been submitted to the UN Committee (Article 45a).

Working methods

The Stockholm headquarters of RAdda Barnen has gathered experiences and knowledge on compliance with the Rights of the Convention. These experiences, together with cri-ticism and praise of the Swedish Government, are presented in Section I.

During 1996-1997 Radda Barnen also invited, within the framework of the project "From Flen to the UN", local branches and county federations throughout Sweden to contribute "snapshots of

on the conditions prevailing for children in their districts". In total, 25 reports from 19 associations and county federations were received. A summary of these is included in Section II. Methods and approaches to the work in the munici-palities are reported in Appendix II.

A common trend indicated by the reports is that the best interests of the child as a primary consideration (Article 3) is interpreted differently in the municipalities and that respect for the opinions of the child (Article 12) is often forgotten. Members of Radda Barnen who participated in the project "From Flen to the UN" question whether Sweden really meets up to Its international obligations "to the maximum extent of its available resources" (Article 4).

General comments on the second periodical report of the Government to the UN

Sweden is a rich country which has, however, endured serious economic difficulties during the 1990s. Among other things, these economic problems have resulted in the development of a substantial national debt. Restructuring affecting the basic needs of children has been implemented, state resources have diminished, and the State, municipalities and public authorities have implemented cut-backs in their expenditure. Radda Barnen considers that the consequences of this economic policy harm children, particularly children-at-risk, and our impression is that the spirit embodied within Article 4 is not always understood and respected by the municipalities or reflected in their budgets. Their decisions often lack a perspective on the child.

Radda Barnen closely monitors how the Swedish Government satisfies its public inter-national law obligations arising from its ratification of the Convention and also presen-ted comments to the UN Committee in~the Rights of Child in.connection with the Report by Sweden in 1992/93.

Radda Barnen has read the report of the Swedish Government with great interest and is appreciative of the f~ct that the Swedish Government fulfils its duty to report to the UN in time and that Sweden was the first state to be examined by the UN Committee in 1993. The organisations within the NGO Network for the Convention on the Rights of the Child -Radda Barnen is one of the founders and members of the steering group - were also grateful for the opportunity to conduct a hearing with the Government, and espe-cially with the Prime Minister, attending for the first time, on 1 September 1997 with the Swedish Government's Report as a basis. The voluntary organisations presented questions and shared their knowledge concerning non-compliance in application of the Convention.

The view of Radda Barnen is that the 1997 report from Sweden provides a rather good comprehensive description of how the Convention is applied there. However, we had no dialogue with the Government before the report was written. In March 1997, the Swedish Ministry of Health and Social Affairs invited a few voluntary organisations to an informal meeting. Radda Barnen subsequently invited the Ministry of Health and Social Affairs for a meeting at its headquarters on 17 April 1997.

The Swedish Government's report is still not available in print, nor is it possible to read it via the Internet. Radda Barnen has therefore been obliged to use a preliminary report from the Ministry of Health and Social Affairs. This is not in accordance with Article 44.6 of the Convention.

Many children In Sweden still do not have information and knowledge about the Convention and further efforts to make the Convention accessible are necessary.

In the opinion of Radda Barnen, the report from Sweden lacks an analysis, for example of the best interests of the child being a primary consideration, and a discussion about the difficulties in applying the Convention which even a rich and democratic country may experience. A public debate concerning conflicting objectives, selection of different ways forward and priorities in society could have contributed to an open discussion with other countries and yielded an opportunity for exchanging experiences.

Nor was there an analysis of which consequences result from political decisions concerning children, both in the short and long term, and whether the municipal savings were really

implemented with respect for the principle of the best interests of the child, par-ticularly as regards children in especially difficult situations. Furthermore, there was no future vision on which child policy should prevail in the future in accordance with the norms, principles and regulations of the Convention.

However, Radda Barnen is appreciative of the 600 page main report of the Parliamentary Committee "The Best Interests of the Child a Primary Consideration", Swedish Public Commission Report SOU 1997:116, which was presented on 20 August 1997. Every sec-tion of the report consists of three parts: an analysis of the Convention, the Swedish situation and the deliberations of the Committee. (A description of the Parliamentary Committee is included in Appendix I.)

Follow-up of previous report

In the report to the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child 1992, Radda Barnen pre-sented its views under the following headings:

- General principles; Children taken into detention, Article 37b; Exploitation of chil-dren in pornography, Article 34c; The rights of the child to knowledge and information, Article 42; Refugee children, Articles 10, 22, 38 and 40;
- · Children exposed to physical and psychological abuse, Articles 3, 24.3, 34, 36 and 39;
- · Children with disabilities, Article 23;

Some issues are still relevant topics today and Radda Barnen reverts to this in its report under the respective Article.

Guidelines for reporting

Radda Barnen adopts the UN Committee's guidelines for reporting and provides com-ments under the following headings:

- · Development 1992-1997; general measures; international development co-operation.
- General principles: Articles 2, 3 and 12,
- · Civil and political rights: Articles 7 and 17,
- · Family environment and alternative care: Articles 10 and 19,
- · Basic health and welfare: Articles 23 and 24,
- · Education, leisure and cultural activity: Articles 28, 29 and 31,
- Special protective measures: Articles 22, 34, 37, 38 and 39

To the UN Committee

Radda Barnen has, under the heading To the UN Committee, expressed an Interest in obtaining guidance from the Committee as regards interpretation in some concrete examples, and provides comments concerning a number of proposals to reinforce the application of the Convention.

Section II

Part I: Development 1992-1997

It was shown clearly by the Swedish Statistics (*Statistiska CentTalbyrdn 5CR*) Report 91 "Welfare and inequality in a 20-year perspective 1975-1995", published in October 1997, that a trend was halted in the early 1990s in the development and distribution of wel-fare in Sweden. Increases in household income were great before 1990. Subsequently, material stan-dard have manifestly deteriorated. Greatly increased unemployment reduced the dispo-sable income of households, up to 1995, by 8 per cent. Since then, the decline has cont-inued. When compared with European countries Sweden - together with the Nordic Countries - nevertheless stands in a class by itself for example, as regards class-related differences in the standard of living. This still applies notwithstanding the employment crisis, budget restrictions, reduction of standards and increased inequality.

However, the changes during the 1990s must be taken very seriously as they have such an unequal impact on different groups. Improvements in income have been considera-bly worse for young people, single people and younger middle-aged people with chil-dren than for other groups, for example pensioners and couples without children. This means that children and young people have been disadvantaged by the development. This is linked to lengthy education for the young, increasing youth unemployment and declining and insecure income for young people. The increase in the gap between gene-rations must be taken seriously. SCB concluded in its report that, as regards material ine-quality, the difference between the generations is now larger than the difference bet-ween classes. SCB also concluded that the financial security of children has deteriorated. In the beginning of the 1980s, 17 per cent of all children in the age range 0-15 years lived in families with financial difficulties. Today the figure is 28 per cent. Families with children have been adversely affected financially by the changes, particularly single parents, families with several children and young families with small children. They are also over-represented among the so-called poverty groups, that is, those groups with a disposable income below the social welfare allowance norm set by the National Board of Health and Welfare. The likelihood of unemployment for single parents has also incre-ased which aggravates the problems of that risk group. It Is important that the Swedish Government is aware of the difficulties In complying with the deeper meaning of Article 2 of the Convention (non-discrimination) if this development Is allowed to continue.

Even If there is less money available for public consumption, It Is important that there is continuous discussion about how available resources are used. The study of four municipalities conducted by Radda Barnen during 1993-1996 indicates that the resources actually available for programmes with children and young people could probably be used more efficiently by improved co-ordination and collaboration. This would both save resources and improve quality. For example, improved co-ordination is required within the tier of management directly under the municipal management board in respect of operations for children and young people. Such efforts must be taken with the section on the best interests of the child in the new Swedish Social Services Act as the starting point. Co-operation should be rewarded more effectively. There do not, howe-ver, appear to be any incentives for collaboration. Various occupational perspectives characterise how management and staff within schools and child care services, schools and leisure services, social services and others perceive the situation of children and what they require. There is no common view of the problems and how they should be rectified. Consequently, a common platform for increased co-operation is required. The knowledge and experience which the voluntary..organisations represent should, to a gre-ater extent than hitherto, be utilised in this connection.

According to a study by Radda Barnen, parents seem to have insufficient information about what the municipalities can and wish to do for their children and also for the parents themselves when they need extra support in their role as parents. They must be aware of whom they can turn to if they feel that they require help with their problems. Today they sometimes do not always know this and the services available from the muni-cipalities do not always appear to correspond with the support that parents require.

In the early 1970s, Radda Barnen established a fund to provide financial support for chil-dren who were marginalised by society and children living under extremely difficult financial, physical or psychological circumstances. Today applications from many unemployed family breadwinners and single mothers are received.

During the 1990s the exposure and vulnerability of families with children have generally become

increasingly manifest. Changes in the Swedish social security system have resulted in new groups of applicants appearing. These are linked to the effects of long-term unemployment, long-term sickness, alcohol and drug abuse by parents, vio-lence, social isolation and exclusion, credit card debt, etc.

Consequently, the number of applications to the fund has dramatically increased:

Year - Number of applications

1990 - 193 1991- 262 1992 - 280 1993 - 626 1994 - 816 1995 - 805 1996 - 1,189

1997 - 1,125

During the 1990s, families with children have experienced a great deterioration in finan-cial conditions. About 526,000 children live within families that have difficulties in meeting basic expenses and 580,000 children live within families without any cash reserves.

During 1994, just over 220,000 children lived within families with incomes under the social welfare norms and about 60,000 children lived within families with very low inco-mes. Single women with children comprise the greatest proportion of social welfare reci-pients. One in three single mothers receives social welfare contributions.

In 1995, about 100,000 children lived within families where neither the father nor the mother was employed. Five years previously, the corresponding number of children was 18,000. In 1995, at least one parent was unemployed in 12 per cent of families with children. This means that 230,000 children - 160,000 more than in 1990 - live within families that are adversely affected by unemployment.

(Sources: Radda Barnen's municipal project, Radda Barnen's report "Disintegrating Welfare during the 1990s", Report of the National .Board of.Health and .Welfare 1997:14)

Part II: Information concerning the articles of the Convention

General measures

Dissemination of the Convention

Article 42

Radda Barnen considers that the rights of children to have knowledge and information about the Convention have not yet been met and that special measures are necessary. We also propose that the~Convention is made available in a language that children understand and in various immigrant languages. The Convention should also be availa-ble to all children on the basis of each child's ability to understand its meaning and also to children with limited ability. (This question was raised as early as 1992 in Radda Barnen's report to the UN.)

Radda Barnen considers that education concerning the Convention is of central importance in Sweden:

All decision-makers must be educated in and obtain information about the Convention in order thereby to obtain an understanding of and insight into the pur-pose and principles of the Convention. It is not merely a question of learning which rights are laid down by the Convention, but understanding the spirit and meaning of the Convention.

- The Government should take the initiative for educating politicians at national and municipal level.
- It is very important that there is a central review of the curriculum within various areas of education with the aim of integrating the Convention in education.
- The Government should assume responsibility for the continuing education of all professional staff within the legal system, courts, police and prosecution authorities on what the Convention stands for and the requirements of the Convention as regards decisions on matters concerning children.
- The Convention should be mandatory in all school education.

Radda Barnen is positive towards the Government's decision of 19 December 1996 to apply over a two-year period resources to increase knowledge about the Convention by, utilising SEK 20 million (approx. USD 3 million) from the State Inheritance Fund. The project is co-ordinated by the Children's Ombudsman In collaboration with a group of voluntary organisations. However, Radda Barnen considers that these resources are insufficient. Radda Barnen also envisages a risk that the Government may consider Itself able to delegate responsibility for information to others in society. (see Section II)

Implementation requires political will

By ratifying the Convention, Sweden has acceded to an international obligation, which means that the State is responsible for taking such measures as are necessary to ensure that the rights are actually implemented and applicable to all children in Sweden. However, it is not sufficient that the Convention is reflected in its legislation. In order to ensure the rights of the child, a combination of measures is required, of which legis-lation is one. The provisions of the Convention must be reflected in Swedish legislation. The Convention is not law in Sweden and Radda Barnen suggests that Swedish legislation on the Convention should be enacted by the method of transformation rather than by incorporation of the Convention.

The principal report of the Parliamentary Committee~ has been circulated, for comments to Radda Barnen's popular movement. Consequently, Radda Barnen would like to trans-mit the following:

- · Sweden's report contains a description of how the State delegates much of the respon-sibility to municipalities and county councils, which are considered to have close con- nections with children through, for example, child care, health care, school, etc. There are often insufficient mechanisms to follow-up this delegation.
- · Radda Barnen considers that the State should assume even greater responsibility for compliance with the Convention and should formulate plans of action in collabora-tion with the municipalities for its implementation in the short and long term. The municipalities often have different priorities. Consequently, children are at risk of being discriminated against in some municipalities.
- Radda Barnen also proposes that a separate annex should be incorporated in the State Budget indicating what resources are allocated for children. By a decision in the Swedish Parliament/Riksdag of 9 February 1995, it was promised by the former Cabinet Ministers that there would be such a "Child Budget" annexed to the State Budget. Radda Barnen, the NGO Network for the Convention on the Rights of the Child and the Children's Ombudsman are still awaiting such an annex. This "Child Budget" could also be a guide for the municipalities, which should also prepare "Child Budgets".

Radda Barnen also proposes the following:

- · A co-ordination function on issues concerning children should be established within the Government Offices and at cabinet level in order to more firmly establish follow-up mechanisms on how the Convention is applied throughout Sweden. The co-ordi-nation function should also include an examination, from the perspective of the child, of all proposals for legislation and other proposals by the Government.
- · A general "Convention on the Rights of the Child Directive" to those commissions appointed by the Government, similar to the Equal Opportunity Directive already in place.

· A follow-up on the significance of the budget cut-backs for children and young peo-ple and an analysis of how the decisions affect children - particularly the vulnerable groups - and also an analysis of how the child perspective influenced political deci-sions. Many decisions concerning cut-backs are short-term and have consequences for children in the long term. During 1997, Radda Barnen assigned an economist (Dr Stefan de Vylder) the task of ana-lysing the impact on children of macroeconomic policies, with the best interests of the child as a guiding principle. His report is rather depressing but also thought-provoking. Two examples:

"A low birth rate the lowest for 160 years is a reality in Sweden (with the exception of one year during the 1930s). The uncertainty in the labour market together with the continual deterioration and alteration of the social security laws results in many people not daring to have more children.. Women, who have scarce resources, are forced to refrain from having children. Jolts in family policy, the social insurance system and labour market policies influence the choice of adults about having children."

"Fiscal policy, finance policy, the EMU and the rate of exchange policy influence the economies of national states and, for example, levels of social welfare insurance."

Radda Bamen wishes to see a child perspective in macroeconomic policies. Preventive investment of resources in child care and school would reduce public expenditure wit-hin the social welfare service, police, courts and prisons. The criminal career of a single young person may cost society around 10-15 million kronor (USD 1.5-2 million).

At the Annual General Meeting of Radda Barnen in May 1997, the following statement was unanimously approved:

"Radda Barnen strongly opposes continued social cut-backs that, in various ways, adversely affect children. There must be a definite end to the short-sighted economic thinking that ultimately leads to a clearly segregated society.

In those areas where Sweden previously exhibited itself as a model for other countries -child care, school, health and hospital care and not least with cultural and leisure activities - there has now been a great deterioration.

Radda Barnen is convinced that this development creates a breeding-ground for discri-mination, racism and ultimately increased social exclusion. In this way, it is children who have to pay the Swedish national debt. The Government of Sweden has underta-ken to comply with the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child to the maximum extent of its available resources. It is clearly laid down there that the child should be given priority, without discrimination, and that the best interests of the child should be the guiding principle.

The Annual General Meeting of Radda Barnen considers that decision-makers, at national and municipal level, through their economic policy betray children".

International development co-operation

The report of the Swedish Government emphasised that Sweden, to an increased extent, works to ensure that the perspective of the child is afforded attention in international development cooperation. As a step towards this objective, that part of the Swedish assistance that may be considered to go directly to children (termed 'child assistance') is emphasised and described. The greater part of this assistance is found within the social sector and described in the report, above all else, in quantitative terms.

Radda Barnen desires a deeper analysis of the problem, where the opportunities for and difficulties in giving assistance to children are discussed on the basis of qualitative aspects.

Radda Barnen considers that promotion of a child perspective means the adoption of a more comprehensive position than that described in the report. Besides supporting direct application

of resources for children, Sweden must ensure that other internatio-nal development cooperation benefits children and that their specific needs are always taken into account. In due course, a child perspective should be included in an analysis, discussions and efforts within the entire international development co-operation opera-ted and supported by Sweden. Radda Barnen recommends that the Swedish Ministry for Foreign Affairs and Sida (Swedish International Development Authority) develop special guidelines on how the perspective of the child can be realised. These should, among other things, contain gui-dance on how important management instruments within the bilateral system of assis-tance, for instance county and regional strategies, may consistently and systematically apply a child perspective.

Analyses are regularly implemented within the Swedish assistance system to determine the impact of the programme on the environment, equality between the sexes and poverty alleviation. In the same manner, analyses should be conducted as regards the consequences for the situations and conditions of boys and girls. In order that this may be attained, education and discussion concerning the rights of the child should be implemented with personnel in the responsible authorities and organisations in Sweden and in the co-operating countries. Furthermore, the objective must be to promote an enhancement of the rights of the child and to more clearly link these to the overall assis-tance policy objectives. Today, the objectives to promote the rights of the child occupy a far too subordinate place in the assistance policy objective hierarchy.

A further and very important step in the child impact analyses is to Increase knowledge about how the situation and circumstances of the child are influenced by, among other things, economic and political decisions at local, national and global level. Sweden should to an increased extent work to ensure that this kind of research and analysis is implemented and that it is effected in a manner ensuring that the rights of the child to participate are promoted. Sweden must within the framework of the multilateral development co-operation, together with others providing assistance, examine what effects the programmes of international financial institutions have on the situations of chil-dren. One important ambition should be to identify and counteract programmes and efforts that are considered to violate the Convention.

The work of Sweden to influence various international initiatives surrounding the rights of the child - such as, for example, commercial sexual exploitation and trafficking, chil-dren in armed conflicts and harmful child work - should to an increased extent be fol-lowed up within bilateral .development co-operation. ..When relevant, these questions should be included in the dialogue and reflected in the co-operation agreements prepa-red between Sweden and the co-operating countries. It is indicated in the Government's report that Sweden gives some support in connec-tion with the reports from states to the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child. Radda Barnen desires that Sweden should play a more active role, not least in Sida's programme-countries. In collaboration with UNICEF and others providing assistance, Sweden can encourage and support governments with the compilation and analysis of information for government reports. In this connection Sweden should, like others providing assistance, emphasise the importance of non-governmental organisations being allowed to contribute freely and without reprisal information to the UN Committee and their governments.

The extent of child assistance:

Radda Barnen wishes to improve transparency: Under the heading "democracy and human rights" approximately 5 per cent is reported as child assistance. What is this part used for?

Returning of unaccompanied refugee children:

The Swedish Government's report does not deal with questions concerning voluntary return for refugee families. However, Radda Barnen wishes to point out that few initia-tives have been taken to prepare the return of the unaccompanied African refugee chil-dren who came to Sweden. In order to rectify this kind of inadequacy, improved co-ope-ration and collaboration between assistance, and refugee and integration policies is required.

General principles

Non-discrimination (Article 2)

Some examples of discrimination against children in Sweden: (see also Section II)

1. Children of parents who are unemployed

Children of unemployed parents cannot demand a day nursery place. This is the effect of a judgment by the Administrative Court of Appeal in Gothenburg on 11 September 1997. The judgment was confirmed by the Supreme Administrative Court a in Notification of 22 October 1997, which refused leave to appeal thus preventing any fur-ther consideration of the matter.

Three political parties took the issue up with the Government during parliamenta-ry question time on 30 October 1997, but the ministers promised nothing.

2. Children of unemployed refugees

There are approximately 13,000 refugees from Somalia in Sweden, including 6,000 chil-dren. Over 90 per cent of Somalian refugees in Sweden are unemployed. Children of a Somalian who grow up in Sweden do not receive support from the community for inte-gration. Radda Barnen considers that special resources should be applied; for example, tai-lor-made education..in schools is necessary.

3. Children with refugee backgrounds living in hiding

Radda Barnen considers that there are about 2,000 children in Sweden under the age of 18 years living in hiding. For obvious reasons it is difficult to obtain information about how many children are kept in hiding. Information which may serve as a guideline is the National Police Board's statistics on wanted persons without residence permits, that is to say, persons who cannot be found to carry out expulsion decisions that have ente-red into force. Many children have been kept in hiding for several years and are in poor conditions mentally and physically. These children often have no opportunity to attend school and, in principle, only receive emergency medical care.

At the NGO hearing with the voluntary organisations on 1 September 1997, R~dda Barnen asked the Government whether the Convention applies to all children staying in Sweden. The question Radda Barnen particularly wished to have answered was whet-her the Government considered that the Convention covers children kept in hiding.

The Government responded that persons living in hiding have themselves chosen to avoid the applicable rules and laws. This means that they cannot expect to have access to the same rights as, for example, Swedish children.

It would be of interest to obtain the opinion of the UN Committee concerning Article 2 in this connection. We also refer to the section on Children in conflict with the law, Article 37 (b, c and d).

The best interests of the child (Article 3) (See Section II)

Introduction

That the best interests of the child should be the primary consideration in all measures concerning children Is new, pioneering and difficult and, furthermore, is not uncontro-versial. At present, intensive internal discussions are taking place within Radda Barnen concerning the meaning of this and how Radda Barnen interprets it In its programme work, both in Sweden and abroad.

Radda Barnen has difficulty with the interpretation of the Convention when contrasting the universality principle expressed by the Convention with knowledge about how regard for cultural views on children and young people varies between cultures.

Radda Barnen would be appreciative if the UN Committee, as the highest international interpreter of the Convention, could provide guidance and possibly report its observa-tions from the approximately 90 reports examined so far.

Some examples:

1. The principle of the best interests of the child is included as an introductory para-graph in the

Swedish Aliens Act of 1.January 1997. The Act prescribes ~in cases that con-cern a child, special regard shall be taken into account of that required for the health and development of the child together with the best interests of the child generally". Radda Barnen considers if to be a major advance that this principle is now included in the Aliens Act, but also desires that a continuous discussion on the best interests of the child takes place within the Government and the Riksdag.

In several decisions of the Aliens Appeals Board a standard formulation is found stating that the requirements of Article 3 in the Convention - to take into consideration the best interests of the child - are not absolute. Regard for other important interests may result in measures that, although not compatible with the best interests of the child, must nevertheless be taken. An example of such an important overall interest that may be weighed against the best interests of the child to stay in Sweden is stated to be the inter-ests of society in controlling immigration.

Radda Barnen wishes to have the Committee's interpretation of Article 3 in this context.

2. Long periods of waiting for children and families with children applying for residen-ce permits in Sweden:

Waiting times of up to three or even five years are common in Sweden today. To live in uncertainty for such a long period influences the child negatively and makes both integration and return more difficult.

Radda Barnen proposes that the period of waiting for children with families should be at most one year, before they obtain notification concerning residence permits.

3. Temporary residence permits:

There are thousands of children in Sweden waiting to receive notification of decisions concerning their applications for a residence permit. A number of these have been gran-ted temporary residence permits (two years). Decisions on the extension of residence permits or whether families with children must return to their home countries drag out, which means that children and families live in uncertainty and fear. This structural vio-lence which contravenes Article 3 of the Convention Is particularly harmful for chil-dren.

Respect for the views of the child (Article 12) (see Section II)

Emphasis on the need of the child to have both its parents has, despite good intentions, not always resulted in the legal position of the child being reinforced. In practice, the current formulation of the rules on access and custody in many cases results in a wea-kening of the rights of the child.

This sometimes leads to children, by reason of judicial decisions, being forced to have access with a parent who have abused them or molested them sexually, etc. Radda Barnen considers that this amounts to .treatment infringing children and we consider that such decisions contravene the Intention of the best interests of the child. All chil-dren should therefore have a right of representation in cases concerning themselves and be entitled to representation by counsel (See Radda Barnen's report 1992).

Civil and political rights

Name and nationality (Article 7)

There are approximately 5,000 children In Sweden today who are stateless. These chil-dren have either been born in Sweden by stateless parents or have come to Sweden wit-hout citizenship. There are also children whose parents have citizenship in a country where the law provides that only those who are born or who are resident in the coun-try may acquire citizenship there.

Under the Swedish Nationality Act an alien may, according to the main rule, apply for Swedish citizenship following five years' residence in Sweden. The period of residence is normally

computed from the date when the person was registered as resident in Sweden, that is to say, when a residence permit is granted. Children may acquire Swedish citi-zenship in conjunction with the parents applying for citizenship. According to the main rule, an alien must have attained the age of 18 before an independent application for Swedish citizenship can be presented.

Radda Barnen considers that the Swedish rules concerning acquisition of citizenship cannot be regarded as satisfying the provisions of Article 7 of the Convention.

Radda Barnen desires an amendment to the Nationality Act with the aim of enabling sta-teless children to apply for Swedish citizenship following a certain period of residence In Sweden.

4 Role of the mass media (Article 17)

(17b) As a tribute to the internationally renowned children's book author Mrs Astrid Lindgren on her 90th birthday (13 November 1997), Radda Barnen and Sida decided to devote 2 million kronor (approx. USD 300,000) for a children's library service for chil-dren living in exceptionally difficult circumstances. At present, Radda Barnen supports programmes for children in approximately 15 countries. The funds for children's libra-ries will be included in this work. The project will be initiated during 1998 in three or four places, including Eastern Europe and Africa, and will be evaluated in two years' time.

(1 7c) Radda Barnen is worried both about the sales and borrowing of children's books having greatly reduced in Sweden and proposes that the Government follow-up and evaluate a new national support for the purchase of literature for libraries (the new Libraries Act).

(1 7e) Radda Barnen proposes that the Government prepares guidelines for the protection of the child from information and material injurious to his or her well-being. This is proposed to increase awareness about the effects of violence In mass media on child-ren.

Family environment and alternative care

Family reunification (Article 10)

Radda Barnen considers that the Swedish authorities' processing of applications for family reunion cannot be regarded as satisfying the criteria of Article 10 of the Convention. The applications are made by children abroad with parents or other relati-ves. In Sweden or by parents abroad with children in Sweden. Processing takes a long time and it is very often practically difficult to effect a family reunification. The formal requirements and paperwork required by the National Immigration Board are in the majority of cases very difficult to satisfy. Furthermore, the reasons given for decisions by the National Immigration Board in these cases are inadequate.

Radda Barnen does not share the view of the National Immigration Board that the aut-hority is flexible as regards the requirement of proof of relationship.

Radda Barnen wishes to see the position of the Swedish Government on matters con-cerning the rights of the child to reunification clarified (see Radda Barnen's Report 1992).

Protection against abuse (Article 19)

Radda Barnen was Invited to the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child on 10 October 1994 for a general discussion about "The role of the family in promoting the rights of the child". On that occasion several experiences were presented and Radda Barnen described the Swedish anti-corporal punishment legislation, its history and development in Sweden together with changes of attitudes on the use of corporal punishment in bringing up children. The Swedish legislation was passed on 1 July 1979 Code on Parents, Children and Guardians, Chapter 6,

Custody and Access, Section 1: Children are entitled to care, security and a good upbringing. Children shall be treated with respect for their person and individuality and may not be exposed to physical punishment or other infringement" (1983:47).

At that time, Radda Barnen proposed that the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child should, by interpretation, incorporate into Articles 3, 5 and 19 the philosophy expressed by the Swedish anti-corporal punishment legislation. The Committee has sub-sequently started to do this when examining the reports of other countries, which Radda Barnen welcomes.

Male circumcision (Article 19)

As a result of the Supreme Court on 29 September 1997 rejecting the prosecution of a man for assault - in the form of the circumcision without anaesthetic of six Muslim boys of the ages 1,5 to 7 years Radda Barnen would care to have an Interpretation of the decision of the Court by the UN Committee.

Radda Barnen wishes to emphasise the issue whether the circumcision of boys may constitute child abuse if it takes place without anaesthetic and even without the necessary hygiene. Radda Barnen considers that little children feel pain. Radda Barnen does not have any evidence that male circumcision is harmful and therefore has no reason to question that tradition, but wishes the judicial decisions and practice to be reviewed on the basis of a child's perspective.

Basic health and welfare

Children with disabilities (Article 23)

Radda Barnen agrees with and supports the efforts on which the Swedish Government's report provides information. (see Section II)

Health care and medical assistance (Article 24)

Radda Barnen is anxious about the restructuring under way within child health care; through the child clinics being integrated into the other health and hospital care ser-vices. We also envisage a danger in a school doctor today being responsible for anything between 1,500 and 47,900 pupils, which can hardly ensure similarly effective school health care. Radda Barnen is anxious about school pupil-care teams (school psycholo-gist, school welfare officer, school nurse, etc) disappearing at a time when there is an

Increasing number of children with even more difficult problems seeking help from the child and youth psychological care service, and because there are long waiting times to receive such assistance.

Female genital mutilation (Article 24.3)

Radda Barnen supports the Parliamentary Committee's proposal to reinforce Swedish legislation as regards the genital mutilation of girls. If mutilation is performed on girls residing in Sweden it should be penalised, even if it is performed in another country where the act is not legally punishable. (see Section II)

Education, leisure and cultural activity

Leisure, recreation and cultural activity (Article 31)

(See also Section II)

From a rights perspective, the Convention emphasises childhood's intrinsic value and cultural expressions and not merely preventive measures against criminality or drug abuse, even though these aspects are indeed important. In order to satisfy the rights of children to freely participate in cultural and artistic life, the Government should ear-mark a certain proportion of the budget appropriation for culture for children and young people and have special regard to children living in sparsely populated areas, immigrant children and children who for social and economic

reasons have less access to culture.

Municipal cultural activities, which were previously subsidised so that they would be available to all children and young people, are being dismantled in many quarters - by, among other things, increased charges resulting in a reduced number of places. This means that not all children in society are afforded an opportunity to participate. In seve-ral of Sweden's municipalities, municipal cultural activities have been completely dis-continued. At the same time, shrinking resources within the nine-year compulsory school mean that, for example, theatre, music and museum visits are cancelled. Nor, similarly, can professional artists be used as before as a resource in the aesthetic work at schools. In the countries of our Nordic neighbours Norway, Denmark and Finland, there are various legislative provisions guaranteeing children and young people the right to culture. Sweden does not have such laws (see Section II).

Special protective measures

Children with a refugee background (ArtIcle 22)

(see The best interests of the child, Article 3 and Section II)

Children in armed conflicts (Article 38) including physical and mental rehabilita-tion and social reintegration (Article 39) Radda Barnen actively participates, together with other NGOs, in the UN Working Group that is preparing the optional protocol to the Convention on the Rights of the Child involving children in armed conflicts. Radda Bamen is pursuing, in particular, the question of the recruitment of child soldiers under 18 years of age and is dissatisfied with the present standard of the Article 38. Despite very active advocacy work during the 1980s - in cooperation with the Quaker UN Office, International Red Cross Committee and other NGOs and some visionary governments - we did not succeed in attaining a consensus wording on an 18-year limit for the recruitment of child soldiers, but we anticipate greater support in the UN Working Group in February 1998.

Rehabilitation (Article 39)

Insufficient measures have been taken to support and rehabilitate refugee children who have undergone tr~.umatic experiences of armed conflicts and as refugees.

Children in conflict with the law (Article 3 7b, c and d)

It is a positive government step that the rules previously applicable to children in detention under 16 years of age are now extended to apply to everyone under 18 years of age. This has happened as a result of the amendment of 1 January 1997 to the Aliens Act. However, the power to deprive a refugee child of his or her liberty by taking the child into detention remains. Radda Barnen considers that this is incompatible with the spi-rit and intentions of the Convention. Radda Barnen furthermore questions whether the taking into detention of children under 18 years of age really takes place "as a measure of last resort and for the shortest appropriate period of time".

Radda Barnen considers it is discriminatory that children under 18 years of age can be deprived of their liberty as if they were criminals. Alternative and more humane mea-sures should be used (Radda Barnen's Report 1992).

Radda Barnen also considers that the statistics relating to children in detention are inadequate. It is not stated, for example, how many children are taken into detention each year, but only per month. Nor are the statistics divided into groups according to age or sex.

Children in situations of exploitation, including physical and psychological recovery and social reintegration (Article 39)

Sexual exploitation and sexual abuse (Article 34)

Radda Barnen considers that several measures should be taken to protect children against all forms of sexual exploitation and sexual abuse. In R&dda Barnen's Report 1992, demands were

presented to improve support, education, continued education and gui-dance as regards sexual abuse for all professionals working with and for children and young people. For example, this applies to staff in schools, child-care, social welfare ser vices, health and medical care services together with staff within the police and judici-al systems. (see Implementation requires political will)

Radda Barnen wishes to point Out that a child perspective should be included In the review of the legal application of the chapter of the Swedish Penal Code on sexual offences (Chapter 6, Section 10) which the Minister of Justice has announced. Radda Barnen also supports the Parliamentary Committee's proposal that the offence description *seduction of youth* is altered to, for example, *sexual e.xploitation of youth*

Young girls are exploited for striptease and similar activities in so-called sex clubs. The law permits young persons between 15 to 18 years of age to "voluntarily" take part. Radda Barnen considers that the provisions in Chapter 6, Section 7 of the Penal Code should be altered so that 15- to 18-year-olds obtain the same protection as younger chil-dren against being exploited in presentations of pornographic material and for sexual posing.

To the UN Committee

Request for guidance of interpretation

Articles 3, 9, 12 and 19

Example: Parents divorce and the mother obtains sole custody of the child. The father is entitled to access with the child every Sunday but only in the presence of a contact person as a result of his having issued threats and acted aggressively towards the mother and child. Furthermore, the father has convictions on assault and unlawful threats to the mother. A contact person is considered necessary having regard of the child's fear of the father, and the safety of the child.

How shall the child's right to access with the parent with whom he or she does not live be respected without jeopardising the safety of the child? How should the fear and threat experienced by the child be taken into account?

Article 9

Example 2: A Swedish woman has a child in Sweden with a foreign man who is senten-ced for a crime and is to be expelled from Sweden. If the man disappears to another country (for example to an African country) the opportunities for the child to maintain any form of contact with the father are extremely limited. To what extent can one refer to the right of the child to both parents?

Should the rights of the child to a parent, in this case the father, weigh heavier than the expulsion decision?

Article 3

Code on Parents, Children and Guardians, Chapter 6:7, Section 8

"If a child has been permanently cared for and brought up in a private home other than the parental home and if it is manifestly in the best interests of the child that the pre-vailing situation continues and that custody is transferred to the person or persons who have received the child or to one of them, the court shall appoint that or those persons as a specially appointed custodian to exercise custody of the child. Questions concerning transfer of custody under the first paragraph are considered on the application of the Social Welfare Board. Act 1994:1433".

Rhdda Barnen wants a clarification of the Interpretation of "manifestly in the best interests of the child" In the Swedish legislation to be clearly interpreted in relation to "the best interests of the child should be the primary consideration" (Convention, Article 3)

There are several examples given already in the section on Articles 2 and 3.

Proposals to reinforce implementation of the Convention

Following pressure from NGOs, the Swedish Government appointed a Parliamentary Committee in 1996 to interpret the principles of the Convention concerning the "best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration". Radda Bamen welcomed this initiative. The concept

"best interests of the child shall be a primary consideration is so central that clarity and a common view, together with analysis of any conflicting goals, is necessary. The Parliamentary Committee's assignment thus involved a broad review of how Swedish legislation and its practice stands in relation to the provisions and prin-ciples of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child. It should be possible to disse-minate knowledge on the Swedish initiative to the Governments of other countries in order to encourage discussion on how the Convention is applied. Radda Barnen belie-ves that the Swedish initiative of a Parliamentary Committee may provide guidance to other countries in the future. A translation into English of the summary of the report should be made available by the Swedish government.

Since 1992 there has been an informal network of parliamentarians in the Riksdag; Network of Parliamentarians for the Rights of the Child. The possibility of initiating similar networks to put the rights of the child onto the political agenda in other coun-tries should be encouraged. However, in order to reinforce knowledge and obtain the most recent information about current child issues in the community a regular dialogue is needed with the non-governmental organisations, whilst respect for the integrity of these organisations is at the same time required. They do not replace the State.

The Swedish NGO Network for the Convention on the Rights of the Child is a model that could be utilised in other countries, for example, to demand political will by annu-al hearings of and constructive dialogue with politicians.

Finally, Radda Barnen urges the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child to monitor regional agreements/treaties so that they contain a view of the child that corresponds with the Convention. The Amsterdam Treaty, previously the Maastricht Treaty, does not for example mention the concept "child". Nor is there any reference to the Convention in the Treaty, despite the fact that national and European parliamentarians sought such a child perspective.

See the section 'The best interests of the child (art. 3) and R~dda Barnen's proposal for a report from the UN Committee on its observations so far.

Section II

"From Flen to the UN..."

Radda Barnen is a popular movement in Sweden fighting for the rights of the child, and has approximately 250,000 people supporting its programmes of which 93,000 persons are members. The members are active within 309 local societies and 29 county associations.

There is great potential, as regards monitoring compliance with the Convention, through the strong links oCthe members in the local community and municipality, which comprise the primary environment of children and which, in recent years, have assumed an increasing share of the responsibility for the conditions of children. The members of Radda Barnen to a great extent work, in their professional life, every day with and close to children, and so they comprise an excellent interface with the reality of children in different parts of the country.

The idea behind involving members in the work to comprise the organisation's com-ments is based partly on a conviction that they can contribute to an understanding of compliance with the Convention but also on the belief that citizens themselves, in their respective local communities, are those who can most efficiently monitor, follow-up and influence compliance with the Convention. The local societies' contribution is an expression of civil involvement in the rights of the child, which has meant that the peo-ple behind the reports have not only read the Convention but have also thought about its meaning. With these resources available the question may be asked: How is the Convention complied with in our municipalities?

The result is a number of on-the-spot images of the conditions of children, based on observations and studies made by people close to children. Situations have been inter-preted and compared with an impression of what the Convention actually means. This comparison has

in several cases indicated such inadequacies that the authors of the reports have expressed the view that the intentions of the Convention cannot be regar-ded as having been achieved. In other cases the reports have not adopted such a clear position and in certain cases the reports also indicate the positive observations that were made.

The guiding principle for all these studies has been not to draw any general conclusion from that observed, but only to express views on the particular item observed. A funda-mental starting-point has been the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child - that is to say, inadequacies in compliance relating to the single child's rights must deserve com-ment and result in changes. 60 per cent of the studies are entirely or partially based on the views of children and young people themselves on the conditions prevailing.

Several working groups have, in conjunction with their studies, encountered difficulties in obtaining information. Unfamiliarity, suspicion and sometimes even unwillingness on the part of municipal authorities and institutions in providing information is serious. Several organisations have found schools to be sluggish institutions that were difficult to access. Extensive openness must be regarded as an important precondition in order to implement monitoring and to follow-up compliance with the Convention and there-by to allow any inadequacies to be rectified. It should also be mentioned that many encountered positive responses and received the help and service that might be expected.

The individual local society/working group .is .itself responsible for-its studies and the allegations presented in its reports.

Short summary of 25 local reports on the situation of children in Sweden

A number of observations and examples of the situation of children in Sweden are pre-sented below. This is a short summary of 25 reports which together amounted to approximately 325 pages written by active RAdda Barnen members from 19 local socie-ties and county associations. It should be mentioned immediately that the general impression is that most children and young people in Sweden live in a very good situa-tion. But a number of very disturbing patterns can be discerned, such as:

- knowledge of the Convention could be significantly better, not least among those for whom it exists in the first place - children and young people themselves
- bullying is an widespread problem that is not always the subject of action plans or corrective measures
- in several municipalities doubtful priorities are established that are not in harmony with the wording "to the maximum extent of their available resources"; a far too short-sighted view also appears to govern priorities in certain quarters
- investigation times concerning children with special needs are in several areas increasingly long; in the meantime the situation of children and young people deteriorates
- co-operation and collaboration between different municipal departments and institu-tions is desirable in certain areas the participation of children and young people is not particularly extensive in several areas
- the health of children and young people appears in many cases to be deteriorating with an increase of, among other things, psychosomatic illnesses and drug abuse
- children and young people in a "grey-zone'~ appear in many areas to be the most neglected groups

Appendix II indicates how local societies and county associations have proceeded with their local investigations.

Dissemination of the Convention

Four local societies - *Hdbo, Karlstad, Vastra Frolunda-A skim* and *Alvkarleby-Skutskizr* - each independently observe that knowledge about the Convention is very poor, not least amongst students in the nine-year compulsory schools and upper secondary schools. *Vastra Frolunda-Askim* also noted poor knowledge among parents and school staff, while certain child care staff

had better knowledge of the Convention. Furthermore, the public and some chairpersons of municipal district boards left a lot to be desired concerning awareness and knowledge of the Convention.

Alvkarleby-Skutskiir:

"In our view this questionnaire illustrates how unknown or rather how poorly anchored the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child is and what low status it has in daily life."

Lomma-Bjarred:

12 year old girl: "there are swastikas and racist sentences on the wall. I feel little, although I know that some only write these things to appear tough.... The dangerous thing is that it can progress and become stronger. Then we have to stop it. We must do so, because they are different or disabled or have another religion

Non-discrimination (Article 2)

In *Habo* and *Alvkarleby-Skutskar*, many, both pupils and parents, feel that bullying exists. There are cor-rective measures, but these are not always known to the pupils. In *Lund*, one out of three schools has no action plan against bullying and racism, and many among the school staff who were interviewed con-sider that they do not have any training and gui-dance to cope with bullying situations. In *Kungsbacka* greater sensitivity is sought as regards the problem of bullying in relation to people with disabilities.

Best interests of the child

(Article 3)

The resources exist, but how should priorities be set?

It is thought in *Flen* that the reducing resources for children with special needs "is not a question of the municipality not having resources but how the municipality sets priorities and allocates the resources". In *Halmstad*, people at the decision-making level believe the same. And the same assessment is made by the association in *Lidingo*: the resources exist, but the allocation is Incorrect. It is also questioned in *Lund* whether the priorities are correct. In *S6derti*lje*, one out of four pupils in the senior level of the nine-year compulsory school together with one out of four parents believe that the municipality in no way works for the best interests of the child "to the maximum extent of their available resources". Nor in *Umed* was "any evidence found that the Articles of the Convention are observed that the community ensured to the maximum extent of its available resources that the best interests of the child are a primary consideration. On the contrary, we consider that children have fared badly in the budget cutbacks."

Longer investigation times

It was observed in *Botkyrka* that "the pupil-care work of the schools is heavy and the investigation work proceeds slowly", while *Flen* maintain that "it can take an extremely long time before help is available for children with. special. psychological problems". It also appeared in *Linkoping* that "the savings within the child care service have resulted in longer waiting times as regards investigations for children with special needs." And in *Lund* school psychologists who were interviewed confirm that there are long processing times, and also that it is extremely important to "discover these children as soon as possible so that they may have as good opportunities as all other children."

Co-operation, collaboration

"There is no co-operation of any great significance [as regards reception of refugee children in the municipality", is the view held in *Flen.* In *Halmstad* it is noted that a number of people working with children and young people in schools, the social services, child health care, refugee reception, etc., together with children and parents themselves, feel that collaboration between various departments must be improved. Some also express the view that there are obstacles to collaboration with the social services; pri-marily concerning secrecy. It was found

in *Strangnas* that "the child care and school plan, adopted by the council assembly, does not contain any guidelines on how the administration should collaborate for the best interests of the child." In their report they wish to see a common action programme for schools and social services as regards pre-ventive work for children in the age range 6-11 years, a review of secrecy provisions with the "best interests of the child" as an objective and, similarly, the establishment within the social services of a contact person for the schools.

Inadequate regard to the individual needs of refugee children

Inadequate regard for the individual needs of refugee children has been observed in both Flen and Lund. Flen: "all pre-school children must enter the child care service via the refugee daycare centre The Panda. This Is a rule set without individual assessment (and] it is therefore difficult to see that the municipality by Its decision has had the best interests of any child as a primary consideration." This, and a system with mandatory pre-paratory classes separate from ordinary education, is considered to be an indication that "segregation between Swedish school children and refugee children Is manifest." Lund:

"The refugee pre-school Is another example of a segregated pre-school. This pre-school Is definitely the best in Lund. The problem Is that It is a mandatory place for refugee children to stay Overall and general rules govern, and regard for the needs of the individual child is forgotten. There are parents who consider themselves deeply insulted by the fact that no one listens to their concern for the vulnerability of their own children."

Respect for the views of the child (Article 12)

Participation

Hdbo, Lidingo and Vastra Frolunda-Askim describe in various ways the inadequate participation of pupils in the schools. In the latter case, nearly all those pupils interviewed considered that they have the opportunity to influence things, but no one can cite a concrete situation where this has happened. In Lund it is observed, as regards immigrant chil-dren, that as a result of language difficulties they have "difficulty in expressing their feelings and thoughts and consequently difficulties in influen-cing their situation."

Lomma-Bjarred:

12 year old boy: "We should be able to decide more on the optional course. The teachers decide for us......It's always a completed document

Karsted:

Upper secondary school boy: "It is acutally in a very few subjects that we have an opportunity to influence our edcuation.... The role of the teachers must be latered. It acutally worked better in the nine - year compulsory school"

In *Karlstad* the clearest impression gained from the investigation was "that the school displayed difficulties as regards the opportunity to attain an active pupil democracy". The investigation also showed that "within the school one appears to have difficulty with affording any value to the views of pupils in relation to their age and maturity with Article 12 as a starting-point. The upper secondary school furthermore indicated inadequacies in their ability to offer pupils active joint decision-making."

The different views of parents and children on the school situation

Two questionnaire investigations indicate manifest differences between the views of pupils and parents on the situation at school, which emphasise the importance of children and young people themselves being allowed to give *their* impression of *their* life and environment. Pupils in *Sodertalje* indicated that they were "more critical towards the ordinary day at school than parents, except as regards the best interests of the child, per-sonal development and anti-discrimination." And in *Alvkarleby-Skutskar* "54 per cent of children consider fthat] it is rowdy in the class for the most part, while 70 per cent of the parents think that it is calm for the most part."

Basic health and welfare

Children with disabilities

In *Kungsbacka* It Is considered that the municipality "closely follows the spirit of the Convention as regards the rights of children with disabilities". However, parents of the children have "consistently stated that as a parent of a child with a disability one must be very active in order to succeed in implementing the various changes necessary." There is also "great uncertainty concerning resources and habilitation on the transfer between the nine-year compulsory school and the upper secondary school. There appears to be an information gap between authorities and the families affected."

Health, development, drugs

Many and large parts of the 25 reports express great anxiety about the health of young people and the opportunity to develop.

Botkyrka writes of "disturbing social development" and of a school which "calls atten-tion to difficulties in providing pupils with severe allergies a tolerable~ school day. The budget does not allow daily cleaning."

Flen observes, foJlowing a visit to a pre-school, that "the outdoor environment was very poor. There was basically no equipment outdoors."

Staff and officers responsible within the Child and Youth Care Administration in *Halmstad* were unanimous that cases of neglect of children occur within the municipality. However, there are various views on whether there is an action plan in the event of neglect and whether it is observed. As regards "the fundamental basic requirements of children", the Director of the Child and Youth Care Administration considers that "it is important to safeguard the current content of school dinners having regard to the incre-asing number of hungry children coming to school on Mondays" and, when questio-ned, nurses indicate primarily the "poor breakfast habits that many pupils have". A nurse with sole responsibility for children and adults (289 people) at a refugee centre says that "the work burden is very great, the work heavy and there are too few resour-ces". She describes the future for asylum-seeking children as follows: "they are damaged for their whole life, irrespective of age,. and their development is affected."

Lund notes that the municipality has "a significantly greater alcohol consumption com-pared to Sweden in general. It is primarily the consumption of liquor and not, for exam-ple, beer that comprises the main difference" but also there are "twice as many young people in the 9th grade who have on some occasion used narcotics as compared with young people nationally". One chief school doctor has shown by an investigation "that the family situation, nationality, sporting habits, general well-being and relationship with friends influences drug use to a relatively small extent." However, "there is a manifest increased risk of drug abuse existing, above all else, among those who did not get on at school".

Lomma Bjarred

12 year old girl "our school was annoyed with the municipality because it did'nt build a ramp but we talked about it , nagged and eventually got it! IN that case the municipality listened to us . But it took a long time"

Lund: "The ordinary pre-schools have little experi-ence of undernutrition or inappitence immigrant children; a more usual phenomena is instead mal-nourished Swedish children The pre-schools must sometimes receive neglected and maltreated chil-dren: the children of single fathers, dirty and in ragged clothes, siblings handed over with their hair full of fleas, the tired girl who cannot sleep as a result of her single, alcoholic mother's nightly parties Among the fragile chil-dren at the refugee pre-school, inappitence and eating disorders are not unusual and there are cases of malnutrition."

A group of school nurses in *Malmo* state that "the attitude of pupils to each other has become harder with cruder language [

and that] in certain schools the children fare worse than previously." Both drug abuse and its acceptance are also claimed to have increased. It also appears that "a limited number of pupils do not receive health care wit-hin a reasonable time or prescribed medicines, usually for economic reasons The nur-ses also consider that the number of children with psychosomatic symptoms such as sto-mach-aches, headaches and difficulties in sleeping have increased. The reports from *Botkyrka* and *Sodertidje* confirm the latter.

In *Skovde* it was concluded that: "The majority of children and young people have, des-pite everything, a good situation". But also that " a number of young children feel lost, worthless, superfluous; that abuse stretches further down within age groups; that eating disorders for both sexes are on the increase; that a number of children's medicine is not bought from the pharmacy; that children have difficulties in concentrating; that there are too few adults around children, contributing to making many children anxious; that alcohol and drug abuse by young people is affecting increasingly younger people.

Education, leisure, and cultural activity

Children in the "grey-zone", children-at-risk, children with special needs.

These and closely related concepts are afforded attention, in some way or another, in virtually every report. We have selected some sections from them:

Botkyrka: "Many pupils are extrovert, lacking concentration and have problems in lear-ning, reading, writing and mobility difficulties and social disturbances. The need for special teacher skills is said to be great as regards pupils with special needs within the framework of the class."

Halmstad: "Too few resources for those who need them most, constitute risks for the future with the financial cutbacks Particularly children-at-risk, children in need of extra support and resources, placed under pressure following cutbacks at various levels in soci-ety."

Hdbo: As regards the development of pupils at school, the pupils question the issue Itself, while teachers and school managers desire more resources and the opportunity to devo-te more time to this. This, not least, relates to the support for children with special needs .Karlstad: "Cutbacks in schools continue, in four years have we been forced to reduce our budget by 25 per cent which has, among other things, resulted in a reduction of staff resources. This has in particular adversely affected those children who in some way are in need of support, but nevertheless cannot be classified as children with pronoun-ced disabilities."

Kungsbacka: "For children with emotional disturbances; the quiet, shy and withdrawn, the extrovert and aggressive, the uncontrolled with concentration difficulties, children with relational problems and children with psycho-social difficulties, there are few resources in the form of a greater proportion of adults in the classroom or smaller groups with more adults. In the 'greyzone' we found unmotivated pupils, anxious pupils and teachers and parents who have given up."

Lidin go: "The teachers at H6gsatra School could not help all pupils with reading and wri-ting difficulties. Several of the pupils do not achieve pass levels in the basic subjects." This is the result of "a reduction of resources for the individual pupil" which means "larger pupil groups, poor and often outdated material and library cutbacks to half-time". Not least special teaching and the group-diagnosed pupils have been adversely affected.

Lund: "school resources have deteriorated [sol that classes have become larger, there are no substitute teachers and there is less money for teaching aids, culture and the continuing education of teachers. Children with special needs are worse off today."

Malmo: Children with neuro-psychiatric problems such as DAMP, APHD, Aspergers syn-drome and similarly children with dyslexia are examples of children in a "grey-zone" who, on many occasions, do not receive the assistance and the support required.

Skovde: "Resources are reducing, but the number of children and young people with spe-cial needs are increasing." Furthermore: "Someone sees that the level of knowledge of children has reduced significantly in recent years. Another exnphasises that when chil-dren with difficulties in learning and special needs lose their support teaching, there is a risk that these children will become isolated and excluded."

Umed: A school manager: "it is more and more difficult for them to get by in society. If we do not continue to provide all children with basic knowledge in reading and writing, we are creating an enormous debt for the future

Karlstad: A boy in the senior level of the nine-year compulsory school: 'I don't actually know who I should go tom the school'

A pupil in the senior level of the nine-year compulsory school on co-operation with adults at the schoool: 'I don't think we can ever have that~, the teachers are placed at a higher level in some way.'

Umed: "A summary conclusion of our examination concerning whether the problems of children with reading and writing difficulties are also rectified in compliance with the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child, indicates that this Is not the case. Nor are the laws and ordinances decided by the Riksdag on the rights of the child observed. Special teachers are exasperated about not having the resources to take care of all chil-dren in need of their support. School managers we have spoken with are trapped bet-ween increased needs and reduced resources... Special pedagogics are not sufficient, but they see how their operations are nevertheless questioned financially... Special schools receive individual pupils who should not be there, as diagnosis of problems is careless or not made. Here, every wrongly placed child is a scandal and a defeat.

Umed: school manager: "It is more and more difficult for them to get by in Society. If we do not cont-inue to provide all children with basic knowledge in reading and writing, we are creating an enor-mous debt for the future."

Adults in school

Interviews and questionnaires in both *Karlstad* and *Alvkarleby..Skutskar* indicate that many pupils that have inadequate opportunities for contact with adults at school. In Alvkarleby-Skutskar, three quar-ters of the parents answered that they did not know "if there were enough adults in the school play-ground during the breaks and 41 per cent of the -chlldren consider that there are not sufficient num-bers of adults Out during the breaks; 43 per cent of the children do not know whether there are any adults to speak with at school when they are requi-red." In *Karlstad* every pupil questioned confirmed an unwillingness to refer to an adult if there was something important in school that he or she nee-ded to speak about.

Equal rights to education and development

At least three associations take up the matter of equal rights to education and development. Lidingo is of the opinion that H6gsatra School does not "meet the requirements of equivalent education; pupils with concentration difficulties take resources from the pupils with problems diagnosed, which results in a reduction of the latter's opportunity to study further after the nine-year compulsory

school." The question asked in *Linkoping* is whether "it [is] at all acceptable to permit 17-children in the age range 3-S years, representing five different languages besides Swedish to form a pre-school group? In order that both the cultural rights of the child and parents should be satisfied, it is necessary to use an interpreter in certain situations. In our opinion it is not advisable to cutback these rights for reasons of economy. In gene-ral, we wonder whether all children at Lyan have inferior opportunities for development than children at SparvsAngv~gen's

pre-school as a result of this language confusion?"

The municipality In *Marlestad* has closed all of Its four open pre-schools to save money. "We consider that this is a violation of Article 3 of the Convention", writes the associa-tion and furthermore, "many parents today have poor incomes and cannot afford to provide their children with suitable play material. They may also find It difficult to manage to provide the Children with Sufficient stimulus. The open pre-school has thus been a great asset for the well-being of the children. It was also able to even out the gaps bet~ children with well-to-do Capable parents and children living with less advan-tageous circumstances."

Refugee children and children with language difficulties

When comparing two daycare centres in *Linkoping*, it was found that one centre had 17 children representing five different languages besides Swedish. Furthermore, contact and cooperation between parents was made manifestly more difficult by reason of the parents' poor knowledge of Swedish. One may ask "whether the situation is such that, with the present staff resources, it is possible to give every child an opportunity for rea-sonable development". A school psychologist interviewed in *Lund* claims that "many teachers do not consider that the children's Swedish is adequate for them to be able to gain benefit from the education." And in another investigation in *Lund*, a manager of a pre-school emphasises that "a large insecurity factor for numerous immigrant children [is] their inadequate knowledge of both languages, that is to say, the respective language of origin and Swedish".

Appendix I

Presentation of Radda Barnen 's programmes in Sweden

History

Swedish Radda Barnen ~Swedish Save the Children] was formed in November 1919, fol-lowing the founding of English Save the Children in May 1919, which was inspired by its founder Eglantyne Jebb(18⁸⁶-I⁹²8): "The world'~s children stand in urgent need of bet-ter protection, because it is they who pay the heaviest price for our shortsighted economic poli-cies, our political blunders, our wars". For Eglantyne Jebb the issue was politics. Children were victims of the incompetence of politicians and, in that respect, had no rights. They should therefore be afforded human rights, which could only occur if politics were changed so that they had regard for the interests of the child. She in collaboration with others drafted a proposal for a declaration on the rights of the child. This was later cal-led the Geneva Declaration and was adopted on 23 February 1923 at the International Save the Children Union's General Assembly in Geneva.

The Geneva Declaration on the Rights of the Child, with its five principles, was later adopted by the League of Nations in 1924. Save the Children organisations subsequent-ly participated in the formulation of the Declaration on the Rights of the Child that was affirmed with ten principles and adopted by the UN General Assembly in 1959.

Swedish Save the Children had consultative status with the UN Economic and Social Council. Together with some 20 other international NGOs, it influenced the content of the Convention on the Rights of the Child through the open-ended UN working group that drafted the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child between 1979 and 1989.

Radda Barnen today

Radda Barnen Is a popular movement in Sweden comprising approximately 250,000 per-sons who support Its activities, of which 93,000 are members. The members are active within 309 local societies and 29 county associations. At the annual general meeting the members determine, through elected delegates, the direction of the programmes. Radda Barnen's headquarters In Stockholm cons~sts of 127 employees- Radda Barnen is a volun-tary,

democratic organisation, with no party-political or religious affiliations, based on voluntary individual membership. It is financed by voluntary contributions, sponsors, funds and foundations, and also by the Swedish Government's development coopera-tion budget **State** contributions must not exceed SO per cent of the total programme budget- Members of Radda Barnen have full insight into the operation and its financing. Total income during 1997 amounted to 350 million Swedish kronor (USD 50 million). The programmes in Sweden

The UN Convention on the Rights of the Child is fundamental and an important and integral part of Radda Barnen's by-laws. The principles of the Convention should be a grated element in all programmes and advocacy work in Sweden and international Radda Barnen also endeavours to ensure that all children themselves have opportunity to demand that their rights are realised.

The work is directed at children in particularly difficult situations, that is to say, children with refugee backgrounds and experiences from war-ravaged countries and armed conflict, children-at-risk of physical, psychological and sexual molestation, children with disabilities, and towards other situations where the rights of the child are not respected Radda Barnen has reinforced its operation through the making of the Convention which legitimises the basic rule that all children, without discrimination, should be treated with respect. The Convention conveys a vision of children as fellow human with, for the first time in history, human rights as individuals.

The Convention also provides for respect for the integrity of the child, the right development, the right to resources, the right to be heard, the right to be treated a human beings and should be protected against all forms of abuse and exploitation fundamental principles of the Convention establish that the best interests child should be a primary consideration in all decisions. This requires a clear child persspective and the entire Convention provides for a holistic perspective based on the as an individual. The by-laws is in complete agreement with this basic view of the child.

Radda Barnen and the political will.

Since the spring of 1992, there has been a cross-party network of parliamentarian~Swedish Parliament. Seven political parties (Centre Party. Christian Democrat Moderate Party, Social Democratic Party. Green Party, Liberal Party, Left Party) are included in this multi-party group. Radda Barnen has regular information meetings with parliamentarians to them aware of various child issues. Through dialogue and constructive co-operation have succeeded in putting child issues onto the political agenda to a much greater than before the Convention was adopted and in force. Several joint seminars with parliamentarians and Radda Barnen have taken place in the Riksdag concerning "the situation of refugee children", "children in especially difficult situations", "the rights of children in Europe" and "the best interests of the child in Europe and the political and legal status of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child within the EU". Barnen views positively the development whereby joint motions, across party b oundaries, indicate that political will can afford weight to children's issues in the work Riksdag, irrespective of party politics.

Bills, question time and interpellations in the Riksdag relate to the rights of the c Sweden and within the EU, children with disabilities, bullying and violence among children and young people, violence in the media, the child in families abusing drugs and alcohol, sexual molestation of children, child pornography, female genital mutilation, displaced children and children in war/armed conflict, the child perspective in deve-lopment cooperation, child labour and anti-personnel mines. These issues are afforded priority within the programmes of Radda Barnen.

Radda Barnen is an important frame of reference in all child issues in Sweden and acti-vely participates in work to improve the conditions of children by advocacy and direct-ly influencing government and politicians in the network of Parliamentarians for the Rights of the Child.

The Parliamentary Committee for the Rights of the Child

Following strong pressure from NGOs, the Swedish Government on 1 February 1996 appointed,

a Parliamentary Committee comprising parliamentarians from seven political parties, experts and a reference group from NGOs.

The assignment of the Parliamentary Committee was:

- to conduct a broad review of how Swedish legislation and practice stands in relation to the provisions of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child.
- to create greater clarity and an increased measure of agreement as regards the meaning of the concept "the best interests of the child" in the Convention and Swedish law and, in that connection also, to analyse any particular conflicts of objectives
- as a matter of priority, to deal with the issue of the status of the child in matters under the Miens Act as regards, inter alia, expulsion or extradition affecting children.

The main report of the Committee was presented on 20 August 1997, following which 115 organisations were invited to respond before 20 January 1998.

Radda Barnen's collaboration with NGO partners

In 1985 the NGO Network for the Convention on the Rights of the Child was formed in Sweden. The objective of the Network is to examine, primarily by an annual hearing of Government representatives, how the Convention is complied with in Sweden. Before every hearing, the voluntary organisations compile the most important questions and send them to the Government. Since 1992, four or five ministers, cabinet ministers and other representatives of the Government Offices have participated. The Prime Minister also attended the hearing in 1997. However, the Minister of Finance has never partici-pated. The documentation from these meetings is distributed for the possible follow-up of questions that were not sufficiently answered.

The NGQ Network for the Convention on the Rights of the Child prepares a joint report to the UN Committee on the Rights of the Child.

The Network Consists of some 60 organisations and a steering committee is respon-sible for the Network.

Radda Barnen is one of the founders and is still a member of the steering commit-tee. The chairmanship rotates every year and organisations are selected for the working group at an annual forum of the member organisations.

Euronet

Euronet is a group of NGOs within the EU working together to strengthen the rights the child by, among other things, trying to influence the Amsterdam Treaty (the revised Maastricht Treaty). This Treaty still does not contain any reference to children. Radda Barnen is one of the founders of Euronet.

International Save the Children Alliance

25 national Save the Children organisations comprise the International Save Children Alliance. The basis for their work is the UN Convention on the Rights of Child. Together they are operational in approximately 70 countries throughout world. The Alliance has the consultative status with the UN Economic and Social Council, Category I. Radda Barnen has been elected chairman of the International Save the Children Alliance for the period 1997-1999.

Working methods for the reports ("From Flen to the UN...")

<u>Botkyra</u> saw schools' annual reports relating to pupils with special needs and the prin-cipals' conclusions. The municipal school plan 1996-1999 has also been studied and comparisons made with the Articles of the Convention.

Flen visited a pre-school and there both interviewed 11 children and inspected the out-door

environment of the children.

<u>Flen</u> studied the situation of refugee children in the municipality of Flen. Staff at the child care centres have been interviewed together with the municipality's refugee co-ordinator and staff at the refugee daycare centre while questionnaires have been answered by teachers, school managers, school nurses and staff within the six-year's old acti-vity.

<u>Halmstad</u> turned to students training as district nurses within the child and school health care service, who interviewed a number of people working with children and young people within schools, the social services, the child health care service, refugee reception, etc. Furthermore, children and parents have themselves also had an opportu-nity of expressing their views as decision-makers in various positions.

<u>Habo</u> in order to find out the position in some schools concerning Articles 12 and 29 of the Convention, discussed with and interviewed administrative directors, school mana-gers, teachers, pupils, parents and school politicians.

<u>Karlstad</u> examined the capacity of the schools to achieve pupil democracy, within the limited aspects of comprehensive development, participation and joint decision-making, and also how the views of the pupils are afforded significance in relation to age and maturity; all on the basis of Article 12 of the Convention. 40 interviews have been conducted with pupils from junior level of the nine-year compulsory schools (6-year-olds), senior level of the nine-year compulsory school (14-year-olds) and upper secon-dary school (16-year-olds).

<u>Kungsbacka</u> read, among other things, the municipal disability policy programme, with officers and interviewed representatives of the organisation for disabled RBU, together with children with disabilities and their families. The principals of four schools have also been interviewed. All this was done in order to establish whether children with disabi-lities receive the support to which they are entitled under Articles 2, 4 and 23 of the Convention.

<u>Kungsbacka</u> interviewed pupils, parents, school staff and school managers at two schools in the municipality of Kungsbacka with the purpose of examining whether the restrictions in the schools had an effect on their ability to satisfy the objectives of the Convention.

<u>Lidingo</u> interviewed pupils, class teachers, special teachers, curates together with the acting principal. Furthermore, the reports of the National Agency for Education, litera-ture in the field, municipal budget and also a TEMO-investigation were studied. The pur-pose to focus on Articles 2, 3, 4, 12 and 28, to. study whether the. Convention was com-plied with in the senior levels in a selection of nine-year compulsory schools.

<u>Linkoping</u> conducted study visits at two daycare centre departments and interviewed daycare centre staff~ They also received certain written information from the respective sector managers. The purpose of the study was to describe and compare the operations at two of the area's daycare centres with different socio-economic characters and also changes between the years 1993 and 1996.

<u>Lomma-Bjarred</u> allowed pupils from three intermediate levels of the nine-year compulsory school classes to describe their own experiences of matters concerning Articles 2 and 12 of the Convention. The children have produced drawings and written short essays describing their own experiences.

<u>Lund</u> conducted an interview with a school psychologist focusing on the school situa-tion of refugee children.

<u>Lund</u> The report is partially based on previously conducted investigations of the drug habits of young people in the municipality of Lund together with interviews of repre-sentatives of the municipal district board among others.

<u>Lund</u> relates to the situation of immigrant children in pre-school and school and is based on interviews with three teachers and a school nurse together with a question-naire to 30 immigrant families.

<u>Lund</u> The report relates to bullying and is based on study-visits to senior levels of five nine-year compulsory schools in Lund as well as interviews with children and Komrevs investigation of any action plans of schools against bullying.

<u>Lund</u> The report focuses on the situation in pre-schools and is based on a long series of conversations with managers at municipal pre-schools, development leaders with responsibility, children and young people together with parents and children in immi-grant families. Individual experiences, the local press and municipal budgets have com-prised other sources.

<u>Mariestad</u> The report describes what happened as a result of a municipal decision to close the open pre-school in the municipality and also the association's view concerning this, rather than the result of a study.

<u>Malmo</u> The report is based on a meeting between Radda Barnen's branch association and 28 school nurses in Malmo and their points of view on, among other things, the indoor climate of the schools and the health of pupils.

In <u>Skovde</u> reference was made to the association's .own members. and points of view were obtained on the situation of children and young people from school nurses, chil-dren's nurses, pre-school teachers and teachers at all school levels, paediatricians and paediatric nurses, and ear specialists, children's and young persons' psychiatric person-nel, parents, politicians, a curate and a priest.

<u>Strangnas</u> examined co-operation between schools and social services in the municipa-lity with Articles 3 and 19 of the Contention as a starting-point, which the association interprets as "that *everyone* must co-operate in the *best interests of the child*". A number of persons employed in various categories within the school and social services have been interviewed. They also reviewed, among other things, the child care and school plans of the municipality together with the action plans of individual schools.

<u>Sodertalje</u> implemented an extensive questionnaire investigation among school chil-dren and their parents whereby, on the basis of certain aspects of the Convention, the respective categories were asked how they felt the situation was. Just over 260 parents and almost 460 pupils answered the questionnaire.

<u>Umea</u> The report focuses on the question of how Umea municipality complies with the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child as regards children in need of support resour-ces on account of reading and writing difficulties with school-work. The report is based on discussions with pupils receiving special teaching, questionnaires to special teachers and pre-school teachers as well as discussions with all school managers at junior and intermediate level of the nine-year compulsory school together with visits to Umea Special Pedagogic Centre and Child and Youth Psychiatric Clinic.

<u>Vastra Forlunda-Askim</u> asked themselves how well known the Convention is and to what extent it is complied with as regards. Articles 3, 4, 12-15 and 42. They interviewed politicians, school pupils and child care staff and also conducted a snap questionnaire among the public. The report emphasises that the material is limited and that it possi-bly "may give some indication about 'where it's going".

Almhult.. The report is written by two pupils on the child and leisure programme (upper secondary school), who posed questions concerning the support that refugees receive when they come to the municipality. They interviewed staff within the social welfare administration, the child-care centre and the psychiatric clinic in Vaxjo as well as a refugee child care centre. They also conducted a questionnaire among the public and held a discussion about the issues with a group of 13 young people.

<u>Alvkarlebv-Skutskar</u> The report is based on questionnaires issued to a selection of pupils, in junior, intermediate and senior levels of nine-year compulsory schools and their parents. The purpose was to try to "provide a picture of how children were dealt with in school in elvkarleby [and to] see whether there were particularly serious inadequacies regarding certain items which the municipal politicians would benefit from knowing before they make decisions concerning further restrictions in resources for children in the municipality."

Home

The NGO Reports Database on Children's Rights includes all existing and public reports submitted to the Committee on the Convention of the Rights

of the Child by NGOs and NGO Coalitions. The copyright of the reports are retained by the authors and use thereof must be duly acknowledegd.

The database is the property of the Liaison Unit of the NGO Group for the Convention on the Rights of the Child and is managed by that unit. For

further information or other enquiries please contact the Liaison Unit at dci-ngo.group@pingnet.ch.